# Narara Valley Baptist Church Constitution June 2016

Documents which may be helpful in understanding this Constitution include;

- Narara Valley Baptist Church Structure (Detailed Description)
- Narara Valley Baptist Church Ministry Description: Elder
- Narara Valley Baptist Church Ministry Description: Church Board Member
- Narara Valley Baptist Church Charter
- Narara Valley Baptist Church Leaders Conduct Covenant
- Narara Valley Baptist Church Safe Church Policy
- Narara Valley Baptist Church Dispute Resolution Process

# **Table of Contents**

Article Number	Heading	Page No.
	Draambla	4
4	Preamble	
1	Definitions and Interpretation	
2	Name	
3	Basis	
4	Church Affiliation	
5	Baptism and The Lord's Supper	
6	Objects	
7	Ministry Partnership of NVBC	
8	Church Officers	
8.1	Role	
8.2	Conduct	
9	Eldership	
10	Church Board	
11	Pastors/Staff	
12	Pastors	
13	Other Employee	
14	Church Leadership Team Members	
14.2	Election	
14.3	Tenure	
14.4	Removal	
14.5	Vacancies	
14.6	Rotation & Election of Elders and Church Board	
14.7	Elders, Pastors/Staff and Church Board Meetings	
15	Advice/Conflict of Interest	
15.1	Advice	
15.2	Conflict of Interest	
16	Authority	
17	By Laws & Policies	
18	Church Organisations	
19	Church Business Meetings	
19.1	Regular Meetings	
19.2	Notice of Meetings	
19.3	Chairperson	10
19.4	Quorum	10
20	Business Procedure	
20.1	Minutes	
20.2	Agenda	
20.3	Resolutions	
20.4	Questions	
20.5	Voting	
21	General	
21.1	Trustees	
21.2	Insurance	
22	Finance	
22.1	General	
22.2	Auditors	
22.3	Dissolution	
23	Alteration of Constitution	12

## NARARA VALLEY BAPTIST CHURCH CONSTITUTION

### **PREAMBLE**

Nothing in this constitution creates or is intended to create the relationship of partner or a partnership as defined in the Partnership Act 1892.

Recognising the headship of Jesus Christ and the leadership of the Holy Spirit, the Church shall be governed in line with the fundamental Baptist principle of the autonomy of the local church and congregational government, recognising the need for appropriate empowerment of the Church Leadership Team to fulfil the Vision and Mission.

(Church Leadership Team in this document does not always automatically refer to the combined group of Elders, Pastors/Staff Team and Church Board. The reference may also be to one of the individually responsible group of Elders, Pastors/Staff Team, Church Board or a delegated person.)

#### 1. DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

In this Constitution:

- a) "Elders" refers to the Elders as defined in the Narara Valley Baptist Church Structure (Detailed Description)
- b) The "Pastors/Staff Team" refers to Pastors/Staff team as defined in the Narara Valley Baptist Church Structure (Detailed Description)
- c) "Church Board" refers to the Church Board as defined in the Narara Valley Baptist Church Structure (Detailed Description)
- d) "Ministry Partner" means a regular attendee at the Church who subscribes to the beliefs as set out in this constitution, accepted by the elders and has been entered into the roll of Ministry Partners by the secretary of the Church
- e) "Church Business Meeting" means a gathering of Ministry Partners of Narara Valley Baptist Church for the express purpose of conducting the business of the church. Such meetings shall take place when an appropriate Notice of Meeting has been communicated and a quorum is in place.
- f) "Extraordinary Meeting" means a gathering of Ministry Partners of Narara Valley Baptist Church for a special purpose and only transacts the business of which notice has been given. Such meetings shall take place when an appropriate Notice of Meeting has been communicated and a quorum is in place.
- g) "Worship Service" means the weekly (normally Sunday) gatherings of Narara Valley Baptist Church for the purpose of worship, teaching and celebration.

- h) "Ministry Team" refers to groups of people from NVBC who engage in ministries endorsed by the Pastors/Staff team.
- i) "Nominations Panel" refers to a group of people suggested by the Ministry Partners of NVBC who are set apart to discern and then recommend to the ministry partners a person for a position within NVBC.
- j) Words purporting any one gender shall be deemed and taken to include all genders and the singular to include the plural and the plural the singular unless the contrary as to gender or number is expressly provided.

## 2. NAME

2.1 The name of the Church shall be Narara Valley Baptist Church. (hereafter referred to as "the Church" or "NVBC")

### 3. BASIS

- 3.1 The Church family at NVBC consists of all believers in our Lord Jesus Christ meeting in fellowship together. We welcome into ministry partnership of the Church, all willing believers who have publicly professed their faith and who wish to make a commitment to the church family. Ministry Partners of NVBC hold the following beliefs as true and act accordingly:
  - 3.1.1 The Trinity of the Godhead.
  - 3.1.2 The Deity of our Lord Jesus Christ.
  - 3.1.3 The sinfulness of man.
  - 3.1.4 The atonement for the sin of man by our Lord Jesus Christ.
  - 3.1.5 The need of the Holy Spirit for conversion, empowerment & ministry.
  - 3.1.6 The Divine inspiration and supreme authority of the scriptures.
  - 3.1.7 The visible personal return of our Lord Jesus Christ.
  - 3.1.8 The resurrection of the dead.
  - 3.1.9 Rewards and punishment in a future state.
  - 3.1.10 The Baptism of believers by immersion or by other means if immersion is not possible.
  - 3.1.11 The reality and personality of Satan.
  - 3.1.12 The priesthood of all believers exercising the gifts of the Holy Spirit.

## 4. CHURCH AFFILIATION

4.1 NVBC is affiliated with the Baptist Union of New South Wales, and will encourage the activities and work of the Union in ways as decided by the Ministry Partners of NVBC. We accept and support the obligation to help and encourage other Baptist and Christian churches.

## **5. BAPTISM AND THE LORD'S SUPPER**

**5.1** Any believer may be baptised upon application and after consultation with a pastor. The Lord's Supper will be observed at least once a month.

#### 6. OBJECTS

- 6.1 The object of the Church shall be as outlined in the Vision and Mission statement as accepted by a Church Business Meeting and shall include:
  - 6.1.1 To proclaim the sole Lordship of Jesus Christ in the lives of the Ministry Partners of NVBC and to seek to fulfil His commission in the life of the community, the nation and the wider world beyond through vigorous evangelistic and missionary enterprises as commanded in Matthew 28: 19-20.
  - 6.1.2 To encourage those associated with NVBC to assemble regularly for the public worship of God.
  - 6.1.3 To inspire and maintain an active spiritual growth for all.
  - 6.1.4 To proclaim the truths of the Bible by which people experience salvation, and to lead those who believe, into ministry partnership with NVBC.
  - 6.1.5 To promote brotherly love and goodwill towards all people.
  - 6.1.6 To assist those who are in need.

### 7. MINISTRY PARTNERSHIP OF NVBC

- **7.1** Ministry Partners are active in the fulfilment of Vision and Mission and provide a place of accountability and support in ministry oversight. They shall engage in;
  - 7.1.1 Grace (Ephesians 2:8-9). Partners are saved by, and live in the grace of Jesus. This grace is not a license to sin, but rather the empowering presence of God to live a holy, God-honouring life.
  - 7.1.2 Growth (2 Corinthians 3:18, 2 Peter 3:18). Partners engage in spiritual disciplines/ practices which feed their soul. Partners desire to see on-going evidence of their life changing to reflect Christ.
  - 7.1.3 Group (Acts 2:46). Partners participate in the body of Christ and connect with others in significant relationships. Partners are strongly encouraged to make our Sunday gatherings and participation in a Growth Group a high priority.
  - 7.1.4 Gifts (John 13:12-15, Romans 12:6-8). Partners serve in the area of their giftedness and passion. With Jesus, they take up the servant's towel and seek to serve more than be served. This will see each Partner actively seeking to discover, develop and deploy their spiritual gift(s), skills and abilities.

- 7.1.5 Giving (Proverb 3:9-10, 2 Corinthians 9:6-7). Partners seek to honour God with their material resources (including time) and support the church using the biblical precedent of the tithe as a goal to reach or exceed.
- 7.1.6 Governance (Acts 13:1-3, Hebrews 13:17). Partners provide a place of accountability and support for the Elders. They set apart Pastors and Elders to their respective roles and seek to make their ministry a joy and not a burden. They both affirm and support the annual budget. They make decisions regarding the purchase or sale of property.
- **7.2** Admission of Ministry Partners of NVBC. All applicants will be given a copy of this Constitution, and will be interviewed by a member of the Elders or their delegate. Applicants who give evidence of a sincere profession of faith in Jesus Christ, and who accept our Basis and Objects as set out in this Constitution will be received into Ministry Partnership of NVBC after their name has been accepted at an Elders Team Meeting.
- 7.3 Termination of Ministry Partnership of NVBC. If a ministry partner of NVBC consistently & wilfully acts in an unscriptural manner, the Elders may terminate his/her ministry partnership of NVBC. He/She must be informed of the details of the matter in writing and given 14 days to respond. At the meeting of Elders held to review the matter, the Ministry Partner will be given the opportunity to speak and/or be represented by a support person. The Elders will make their decision after prayerful and faithful efforts have been made to bring him/her to repentance and amendment as set out in Galatians 6: 1.
- **7.4 Revision of Roll**. If a Ministry Partner of NVBC member does not attend a worship service of NVBC without sufficient reason for a period of six months, his/her name will be removed from the roll.
- 7.5 **Dispute/Conflict**. Matters of dispute between Ministry Partners of NVBC should be dealt with in accordance with the "Guidelines on Conflict Management at Narara Valley Baptist Church" (located in the NVBC Safe Church Policy) and shall not be brought before the Elders unless the parties have first complied with the directions of Matthew 18:15-17. Matthew 5:23.
- 7.6 Discipline. Should a matter occur which appears to require the exercise of discipline, the Elders shall arrange for an inquiry. The person must be informed of the details of the matter in writing and given 14 days to respond. At the meeting of Elders held to review the matter the Ministry Partner will be given the opportunity to speak and/or be represented by a support person. The Elders will make their decision after prayerful and faithful efforts have been made to bring him/her to repentance and amendment as set out in Galatians 6: 1.

### 8. CHURCH OFFICERS

- **8.1 Role.** The role of a Church Leadership Team member is to promote and do all things necessary to implement the Church Vision and Mission Statement, and to transact the routine business of the Church.
- 8.1.1 The Church Leadership shall include:
  - The Elders
  - The Senior Pastor
  - The Pastors/Staff Team
  - The Church Board
  - Others members as determined from time to time by the Ministry Partners of NVBC or the Church Leadership Team.
- 8.1.2. The Elders are accountable for the Leadership of the Church; the Elders will be led by their Chairperson. The Elder Team will include the Senior Pastor.
- 8.1.3 The authorised signatory for the church shall be the Chairperson of the Church Board or other person designated by the Church Board and recorded in the minutes of the Church Board Meeting.
- 8.1.4 The term of office for Elders and Church Board members, except the Senior Pastor, shall be for three years.
- **8.2 Conduct.** All members of the Church Leadership and Ministry Team Leaders will be subject to the Leader's Conduct Covenant.

## 9. ELDERSHIP

- **9.1** The Elders will provide the Senior Pastor, Pastors/Staff & Church Board with the appropriate levels of;
  - delegation
  - resourcing
  - support and care processes
- **9.2** The Senior Pastor, Pastors/Staff and Church Board are accountable to the Elders for the exercise of the delegations, resources, support and care process. They shall demonstrate this by the provision of reports, briefings and presentations on a regular basis throughout the year.

# 10. CHURCH BOARD

**10.1** The Church Board is responsible the pragmatic matters associated with the Vision, Mission, Values and day to day administration.

### 11. PASTORS/STAFF

11.1 The Pastors/Staff are responsible to lead the development and implementation of the Vision, Mission and Values, particularly within the ministry area to which they are called.

## 12. PASTORS

- **12.1 Election.** A Pastor shall be elected upon a three-fourths majority of votes submitted at an Extraordinary or Church Business Meeting of which written notice shall be given at least two weeks before such meeting, and also notice shall be given at all worship services during the preceding 15 days, the purpose of such meeting having been specified. The quorum on this occasion is to be forty percent of the Ministry Partners of NVBC. The Senior Pastor will be accredited with a Baptist Union.
- **12.2 Removal.** A Pastor shall be removed by a simple majority of votes submitted at an Extraordinary or Church Business Meeting of which written notice shall be given at least two weeks before such meeting, and also notice shall be given at all worship services during the preceding 15 days, the purpose of such meeting having been specified. The quorum on this occasion is to be forty percent of the Ministry Partners of NVBC.
- 12.3 Procedure When Calling a Pastor. All recommendations in connection with the Pastorate shall be submitted in writing for discussion firstly to a Nominations Panel and subsequently to the Elders. Should more than one name be submitted, discussion shall continue until agreement is reached regarding the approach to one person. The nominated panel shall then communicate privately with this nominee to ascertain whether he or she would be willing to allow his or her name to be placed before the Church. Only one name shall be before the Church at any one time. In the event of an adverse vote, or a call to the Pastorate not being accepted, the above procedure shall be repeated until successful.
- **12.4 Short Term Vacancies (Pastors).** The Elders may authorise recruitment to cover a short term vacancy (up to 12 months) of one or more Pastors. Such recruitment must comply with the "Recruitment of Temporary Paid Staff" section of the "Narara Valley Baptist Church Safe Church Policy"

#### 13. OTHER EMPLOYEES

13.1 The Church Leadership Team may resolve to employ or terminate other paid staff, in order to function effectively. The Church Leadership Team shall determine the employment details of any such employees. All persons paid wages, salaries, stipends or other employment related benefits by the Church, are employees of the Church.

## 14. CHURCH LEADERSHIP TEAM MEMBERS

- 14.1.1 The Church will appoint men and women to this role based upon:
  - a) Their love for God, the Church and all people (Matt 22:37-39, Matt 28:19-20)
  - b) Their recognition that Jesus is the head of the Church (Col 1:18)
  - c) Their spiritual giftedness (Rom 12:6-8)
  - d) Their willingness to serve in a spirit of love (Rom 12:11)
  - e) Their being people of good standing, full of the spirit & of wisdom (Acts 6:3)
  - f) Their Character (1 Tim 3:2-13, Titus 1:6-9, 1 Peter 5:1-4, James 1:1 as appropriate)
  - g) Their Competency (1 Tim 3:2, 1 Tim 3:13 as appropriate)
  - h) Their Chemistry (1 Tim 3:1-12 as appropriate)
  - i) Their Commitment (1 Tim 1:12)
- 14.1.2 All Ministry Partners of NVBC shall be eligible for office, provided they have been regularly attending, in the case of the Church Board for at least six months, in the case of Elder for at least two years.
- 14.2 Election. Nominations for the office shall be invited from Ministry Partners of NVBC. All such nominations are to be submitted in writing, signed by both parties, for discussion firstly to a Nominations Panel and subsequently to the Elders. Ministry Partners of NVBC will be provided, either via electronic or hard copy means, of the names for voting no later than the Sunday preceding the Extraordinary or Church Business Meetings. The names obtaining the highest number of votes shall be deemed elected. In the case of a single nominee, no candidate may be deemed elected who does not secure a majority of those votes submitted at the meeting.
- 14.3 Tenure. The consecutive tenure of an Elder or Church Board member is to be 2 x 3 year terms {six years}. Re-election could then occur after a one year break. This is to facilitate renewal of both individual and the Church Leadership Team. In the event of exceptional circumstances (as determined by a vote of the Elders and Church Board), an Elder or Church Board member may serve an additional 1 year term directly following their 2 x 3 year terms. This additional year will require voting by the Ministry Partners.
- **14.4 Removal.** A Church Leadership Team member shall be removed by a simple majority of votes submitted at an Extraordinary or Church Business Meeting of which written notice shall be given at least two weeks before such meeting, and also notice shall be given at all worship services during the preceding 15 days, the purpose of such meeting having been specified. The quorum on this occasion is to be forty percent of the Ministry Partners of NVBC.
- **14.5 Vacancies**. The Elders or Church Board, respectively, shall have power at any time and from time to time to appoint a new Elder or Church Board Member to fill any casual vacancy.

14.5.1 Any Elder or Church Board Member so appointed shall hold office only until the next following Annual General Meeting and shall then be eligible for election but shall not then be taken into account in determining the number of Elders or Church Board Members who are to retire by rotation at such meeting.

#### 14.6 Rotation & Election of Elders and Church Board.

- 14.6.1 To enable rotation of Elders and Church Board members, at the Annual General Meeting in 2010, the number of Elders and Church Board Members that is a whole number nearest one-third of the Elders or Church Board will resign. The Elders and Church Board Members to resign will be those persons as agreed amongst them or, if no agreement, those to resign will be chosen by lot. Resigning Elders and Church Board Members shall be eligible for re-election.
- 14.6.2 At the second Annual General Meeting in 2011, the number of Elders and Church Board Members that is a whole number nearest one-third of the Elders and Church Board Members will resign. The Elders and Church Board Members to resign will be taken from those persons who have served the longest term. From those eligible for resignation, the Elders and Church Board Members to resign will be those persons as agreed amongst them or, if no agreement, those to resign will be chosen by lot. Resigning Elders and Church Board Members shall be eligible for re-election.
- 14.6.3 At every subsequent Annual General Meeting those Elders and Church Board Members who have completed a three (3) year term shall resign.

# 14.7 Elders, Pastors/Staff and Church Board Meetings

- 14.7.1 The quorum for all Elder/Church Board meetings at which decisions are to be made will not be less than 66% of the membership of that group e.g. 2 out of 3, 3 out of 4. 4 out of 5 or 6 etc.
- 14.7.2 At the first Elders and Church Board Meeting following each Annual General Meeting, the Elders and Church Board by simple majority shall elect the Chairperson and determine the period for which such Chairperson is to hold office.
- 14.7.3 The Pastors/Staff Team will be lead and Chaired by the Senior Pastor.
- 14.7.4 The Elders and Church Board shall elect by simple majority one of their number as Deputy Chairperson and determine the period for which such Deputy Chairperson is to hold office.
- 14.7.5 The Senior Pastor or a member of the Pastors/Staff Team cannot hold the position of Chairperson or Deputy Chairperson of the Elders or Church Board.

14.7.6 Elders, Pastors/Staff and Church Board will meet as defined, from time to time in the NVBC Charter.

### 15. ADVICE/CONFLICT OF INTEREST

- **15.1 Advice.** The Elders and Church Board may consult with anyone who they feel will add value to their decisions.
- **15.2 Conflict of Interest.** Whenever there is a conflict of interest in regard to a discussion/decision, the conflict must be declared. The remaining team members shall determine whether the conflict shall result in that person; a) absenting themselves from the meeting, b) participating in discussion only or c) full participation in the decision.

# 16. Authority

**16.1** An appropriate schedule of delegation will be established to ensure decision making authorities are determined throughout the church to assist the efficient fulfilment of the Vision.

### 17. BY LAWS & POLICIES.

17.1 The Elders and Church Board has power to make By Laws and Policies concerning ministry partnership and any other matter which the Elders and Church Board believes suitable for including in such By Laws or Policies.

#### 18. CHURCH ORGANISATIONS

## 18.1 Church Organisations and Ministries

The leaders of all Church Organisations and Ministries shall be accountable to the Church Leadership Team.

## 18.2 Ministry Team Leaders.

**18.2.1 Vacancies.** All vacant ministry team leader roles will be advised to the relevant Church Leadership Team who will then nominate the process to be used in filling the vacancy. The appointment of a leader may be challenged. Such challenges will be dealt with under the Church Dispute Resolution Process.

## 19. CHURCH BUSINESS MEETINGS

**19.1 Regular Meetings.** At least two Church Business Meetings should be held each year one of which will be the Annual General Meeting. Extraordinary meetings may be convened as required by a majority of the Church Leadership Team, or a request signed by 25% of the Ministry Partners of NVBC.

- **19.2 Notice of Meetings.** Written notice shall be given at least two weeks before such meeting, and also notice shall be given at all worship services during the preceding 15 days.
- **19.3 Chairperson.** The Chairperson of the Church Board shall preside as Chairperson at every Church Business Meeting. If the Chairperson is not present the Deputy Chairperson will Chair the meeting. If neither of these are present or are unwilling to act for all or part of the meeting, the Ministry Partners present shall elect one of their number to be Chairperson of the meeting (or part of it).
- **19.4 Quorum.** In matters connected with the acquirement, mortgaging or disposal of real property the voting age shall be 18 years or above as prescribed by the "Baptist Churches of New South Wales Property Trust Act 1984".
  - 19.4.1 Except in the case of electing/removing a pastor, amending the constitution and the acquirement, mortgaging or disposal of real property (all of which have a quorum of 40% of the eligible Ministry Partners of NVBC), the Quorum for a Church Business Meeting will be 25% of the Ministry Partners of NVBC. The Quorum will consist of the total number of Ministry Partners of NVBC in attendance at meetings on the nominated meeting day. If a Quorum in not present within 15 minutes of the time appointed for a meeting, then the meeting shall be held 14 days later. Notice of such adjourned meeting shall be given by verbal announcement and bulletin at all Worship Services during the preceding 8 days. Such meeting shall be competent to transact the adjourned business notwithstanding the absence of a Quorum.

## **20. BUSINESS PROCEDURE**

- **20.1 Minutes.** Minutes shall be kept of every Church Meeting, and the minutes of the previous Meeting shall be read and accepted as the first order of business.
- **20.2 Agenda.** An agenda of the meeting shall be posted with any Notice of a Church Meeting, and such agenda shall specify as accurately as possible the text of any proposed motions or resolutions at the particular Church Meeting.
- **20.3 Resolutions.** At any meeting, before a decision can be made or voted upon, a resolution to the effect of that decision must be proposed in exact words by a Ministry Partner, and that resolution seconded by another Ministry Partner, and voted upon. The result of that vote will then be recorded in the minutes of that meeting.
- **20.4 Questions.** All questions affecting the management of the Church shall preferably be submitted first to the Church Leadership Team before presentation to the Church.

20.5 Voting. The vote of the Church shall be taken ordinarily on the voices or by a show of hands of Ministry Partners of NVBC plus the counting of authorised proxy votes (signed by the voting Ministry Partner of NVBC and also signed by the proxy holding Ministry Partner of NVBC), but all voting relative to the election of Pastor or Church Leadership Team Member shall be by secret ballot, also on such other occasions as the Church Leadership Team may consider advisable. Decisions will be made by a simple majority. Except in the case of electing a pastor and amending the constitution, a vote exceeding 50% is required to pass a resolution.

### 21. GENERAL

- **21.1 Trustees.** The Trustee of all Church property is the Baptist Union Property Trust.
- **21.2 Insurance**. Appropriate insurance for all risks associated with the Church buildings, Church property and the ministries of the Church, both on and off the Church property, shall be maintained by the Church Board.

## 22. FINANCE

- **22.1 General.** The Ministry of the Church shall be supported and any ordinary expenses met by voluntary contributions and other commercial or non-commercial activities as decided by the Church Leadership Team. Cheques shall be signed by two signatories as authorised by the Church Leadership Team.
- **22.2 Auditors.** External auditors shall be appointed by the Church Leadership Team for the following year. The financial books of the Church shall be audited at least once a year for presentation to a Church Business Meeting.
- **22.3 Dissolution.** In the event of the Church being dissolved, all property, assets and monies which remain after such dissolution and the satisfaction of all debts and liabilities shall be vested in the Baptist Union of NSW.

## 23. ALTERATION OF CONSTITUTION

- 23.1 No alteration shall be made to the Constitution except by a three-fourths majority of votes submitted at an Extraordinary or Church Business Meeting convened for the purpose. The quorum on this occasion is to be forty percent of the Ministry Partners of NVBC. The Quorum will consist of the total number of Ministry Partners of NVBC in attendance at meetings on the nominated meeting day.
- 23.2 Any proposed alteration or addition shall be given in writing as a Resolution to the Church Leadership Team and will be made available to all Ministry Partners of NVBC not less than 15 days before the date of such meeting.